UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-26-2008

Backman v. Lawrence Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35151

C. Statement Of Facts								
 II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL		B.	Procee	edings Before The District Court	1			
A. Easement By Necessity		C.	Staten	nent Of Facts	4			
B. Private Condemnation 9 C. Prescriptive Easement 9 D. Combination Of Easement By Necessity, Private Condemnation 9 And/Or Prescriptive Easement 9 9 E. District Court's Award Of Costs To Defendants 9 B. ARGUMENT 10 A. This Court Should Overrule Roberts v. Swim, 117 Idaho 9 (Ct.App. 1989), And Hold That Common Ownership In The United States Government Satisfies The Unity Of Title Element For An Easement By Necessity Claim 10 1. Common Ownership in the United States is Sufficient to Satisfy the Unity of Title Element of an Easement by Necessity Claim 11 2. There is Necessity For the Easement Claimed by Backmans 17 B. The District Court Erred In Denying Backmans' Private Condemnation Claim 18 1. There Are No Alternative Routes Available to Access the Backman Property 21 C. At Trial, The District Court Erred As A Matter Of Law By Misapplying "Presumptions" Not Relevant to Backmans' Prescriptive Easement Claim 23 1. This Court Disfavors the Use of "Presumptions" and "Burden Shifting" in Prescriptive Easement Cases 23 2. The District Court Erred in Applying the Wild and Unenclosed Lands Presumption in Finding That Use of Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek <td>11.</td> <td>ISSU</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	11.	ISSU						
 C. Prescriptive Easement		A.	Easen	ent By Necessity	9			
 D. Combination Of Easement By Necessity, Private Condemnation And/Or Prescriptive Easement		В.	Privat	e Condemnation	9			
And/Or Prescriptive Easement 9 E. District Court's Award Of Costs To Defendants. 9 HI. ARGUMENT 10 A. This Court Should Overrule Roberts v. Swim, 117 Idaho 9 (Ct.App. 1989), And Hold That Common Ownership In The United States Government Satisfies The Unity Of Title Element For An Easement By Necessity Claim		C.	Prescr	iptive Easement	9			
And/Or Prescriptive Easement 9 E. District Court's Award Of Costs To Defendants. 9 HI. ARGUMENT 10 A. This Court Should Overrule Roberts v. Swim, 117 Idaho 9 (Ct.App. 1989), And Hold That Common Ownership In The United States Government Satisfies The Unity Of Title Element For An Easement By Necessity Claim		D.						
 E. District Court's Award Of Costs To Defendants								
 A. This Court Should Overrule <i>Roberts v. Swim</i>, 117 Idaho 9 (Ct.App. 1989), And Hold That Common Ownership In The United States Government Satisfies The Unity Of Title Element For An Easement By Necessity Claim		E.						
 And Hold That Common Ownership In The United States Government Satisfies The Unity Of Title Element For An Easement By Necessity Claim	111.	ARG	UMEN	Γ1	0			
Unity of Title Element of an Easement by Necessity Claim			This C And H	Court Should Overrule Roberts v. Swim, 117 Idaho 9 (Ct.App. 1989), Iold That Common Ownership In The United States Government				
 There is Necessity For the Easement Claimed by Backmans			1.					
 B. The District Court Erred In Denying Backmans' Private Condemnation Claim 18 1. There Are No Alternative Routes Available to Access the Backman Property								
 There Are No Alternative Routes Available to Access the Backman Property			2.	There is Necessity For the Easement Claimed by Backmans 1	7			
 Backman Property		В.	The D	e District Court Erred In Denying Backmans' Private Condemnation Claim.				
 "Presumptions" Not Relevant to Backmans' Prescriptive Easement Claim			1.		1			
 in Prescriptive Easement Cases		C.						
 The District Court Erred in Characterizing Powers's Use of the Roadways in Question After 1996 as "Public"			1.					
 Roadways in Question After 1996 as "Public"			2					
 The District Court Erred in Applying the Wild and Unenclosed Lands Presumption in Finding That Use of Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and the Three Extensions, Prior to Powers's Ownership Was			ه سک		4			
 Presumption in Finding That Use of Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and the Three Extensions, Prior to Powers's Ownership Was			3					
 Road, and the Three Extensions, Prior to Powers's Ownership Was			2.					
 Permissive								
4. The District Court Erred in Applying the Common Use Rule in Determining That Use of Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and the Three Extensions, Prior to Powers's Use Was Permissive								
Determining That Use of Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and the Three Extensions, Prior to Powers's Use Was Permissive								
			4.	Determining That Use of Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road,				
			5.	Backmans Proved the Elements of Their Prescriptive Easement Claim 3				

	D.	The District Court Erred In Failing To Combine Easement By Necessity, Private Condemnation And/Or Prescriptive Easement Theories				
		To Provide Access To The Landlocked Backman Property	34			
IV.	CON	CLUSION	38			

ADDENDUM OF CASES

EXHIBITS

<u>Exhibit A</u> :	Map Identifying Roads Used To Access The Backman Property
<u>Exhibit B</u> :	Chain Of Title To The Backman Property

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

ID S.Ct. June 17, 2008	
Burley Brick & Sand Co. v. Cofer	
102 Idaho 333 (1981)	
Cordwell v. Smith	
105 Idaho 71 (Ct.App. 1983)	11, 12, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 36
Eisenbarth v. Delp	
70 Idaho 266 (1950)	
Erickson v. Amoth	
99 Idaho 907 (1979)	
Gibbens v. Weisshaupt	
98 Idaho 633 (1977)	
Hall v. Strawn	
108 Idaho 111 (Ct.App. 1985)	
Hodgins v. Sales	
139 Idaho 225 (2003)	
Hughes v. Fisher	
142 Idaho 474 (2006)	

Kellogg v. Garcia 102 Cal.App.4th 796 (Cal.Ct.App. 2002)
<i>Kinscherff v. U.S.</i> 586 F.2d 159 (10 th Cir. 1978)
<i>McKenney v. Anselmo</i> 91 Idaho 118 (1966)
Melendez v. Hintz 111 Idaho 401 (Ct.App. 1986)
Roberts v. Swim 117 Idaho 9 (Ct.App. 1989)
Simmons v. Perkins 63 Idaho 136 (1941)
Utah v. Andrus 486 F.Supp. 995 (D.Utah 1979)14, 16
West v. Smith 95 Idaho 550 (1973)
<i>Wood v. Hoglund</i> 131 Idaho 700 (1998)
Statutes
Idaho Code § 7-701 19 Idaho Code § 7-701(5) 19, 20 Idaho Code § 7-704 19
Treatises
4 Powell on Real Property, § 34.07 at 34-59 (2000) 14 4 Powell on Real Property, § 34.10[2][f] (2000) 31 7 Thompson on Real Property, § 60.03(b)(5)(i) 13 7 Thompson on Real Property, § 60.03(b)(6)(viii) (1994) 32, 33 7 Inompson on Real Property, § 60.03(b)(6)(viii) (1994) 32, 33 94 A.L.R.3D 502, 517-18 (1979) 13
Constitutional Provisions

Article I,	Section	14	of the	Idaho	Constitution	19)
------------	---------	----	--------	-------	--------------	----	---

.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Nature of the Case</u>.

Bob and Rhonda Backman ("Backmans") own a piece of property in Bonner County that is not accessible by any public road or easement of record; it is legally landlocked. This property is more particularly described as the S 1/2 of the NW 1/4 and the S 1/2 of the NW 1/4 of the NW 1/4 of Section 8, Township 57 North, Range 2 West, Boise Meridian (the "Backman Property"). While legally landlocked, the record in this matter reflects that the Backman Property has been accessible via roadways across the adjacent Section 7 since at least the 1950s.

Presently, the properties through which these roadways pass in Section 7 are owned by Defendants-Counterclaimants-Respondents, who collectively belong to the Pend Oreille View Owners' Association, Inc. ("POVE") (Defendants-Counterclaimants-Respondents and POVE are collectively referred to as "Defendants"). In April 2005, POVE recorded a Declaration of Non-Access that stated the roads through Section 7 were "private" and deemed that there is "absolutely no right" to use the roads to access property located in Section 8.

With this litigation, Backmans seek access to their legally landlocked property. Backmans claim a right to access their property pursuant to condemnation of a private roadway, an easement by necessity, a prescriptive easement, or some combination of these theories.

B. <u>Proceedings Before The District Court.</u>

On February 24, 2006, Backmans filed a Complaint against Defendants Spagon, Rogers, Lloyd, Johnson, Lawrence, Schrader, Millward and POVE, asserting a right to cross over Defendants' property to gain access to the Backman Property. R. Vol. I, p. 19. Backmans asserted three theories pursuant to which they were entitled to cross over Defendants' properties

to access the Backman Property: Prescriptive easement, court declaration of a public road and private condemnation. *Id.* As discovery progressed, Backmans dismissed their claim seeking declaration of a public road. R. Ex. Post-Trial Brief filed September 26, $2007^{1/}$, p.3.

On August 21, 2006, Backmans filed a First Amended Complaint adding additional Defendants over whose property Backmans needed to cross to access the Backman Property. R. Vol. I, p. 44. The additional Defendants included Gregory and Theresa Zirwes, Christopher Bessler, Robert and Lynn Walsh, and Patrick and Michelle McKenna. *Id.* The First Amended Complaint alleged new causes of action for access to the Backman Property based upon the theory of easement by necessity, as the recorded documents reflected previous common ownership between Section 7 and Section 8, and that the partition of Sections 7 and 8 left the Backman Property landlocked. *Id.* Prior to trial, Victoria Rogers granted an easement to Backmans to access the Backman Property over and across her property, and was dismissed from the litigation. R. Ex. Post-Trial Brief filed September 26, 2007, p. 3. Dr. and Mrs. Lawrence also conveyed an easement over and across their property to the Backman Property. *Id.*^{2/}

At the time of trial, Defendant Schrader sought to file a cross-claim against the other Defendants. R. Vol. I, p. 173. Schrader is the owner of twenty (20) acres that is adjacent to the Backman Property and that Randy Powers ("Powers") and all other previous owners had commonly owned with the Backman Property. *Id.* The District Court permitted Schrader's

¹/ All references to "Post-Trial Brief filed September 26, 2007," refer to the brief filed by Plaintiffs following the District Court trial of this matter, and which Brief is also an exhibit to the Clerk's Record on Appeal.

^{2/} Based upon a stipulation between the parties, as is referenced in the District Court's Memorandum Opinion (R. Vol. II, p. 263), a parcel of property owned by the City of Sandpoint ("City") and located between Baldy Mountain Road and Defendants' properties was excluded from the lawsuit because the City has granted access over its property to all parties subject to certain restrictions common to all parties.

cross-claim against the Defendants to obtain access under the same legal theories, along the same routes, and for the same purposes as Backmans. R. Vol. II, p. 259-60.

Trial was held from September 4 to September 7, 2007. R. Vol. II, p. 260. In the posttrial briefs, Backmans stated that they "seek a judgment from this Court granting access to their Property for use by one (1) residence on each of the twenty (20) acre parcels owned by Backmans, for a total of five (5) residences." R. Ex. Post-Trial Brief filed September 26, 2007, p. 4. Backmans limited their access claims to the roads named Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and three of their extensions referred to as the Upper Road, the Middle Road and the Lower Road. R. Vol. II, p. 264.^{3/} Backmans claimed access based upon the following theories:

1. A prescriptive easement east over Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road from the City property, north over Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and east over either the Upper, Middle or Lower Road into Section 8;

2. A privately condemned easement east over Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, north over Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and east over either the Upper, Middle or Lower Road into Section 8, with just compensation to the landowners;

3. An easement by necessity east over Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, north over Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and east over either the Middle or Lower Road into Section 8; or

4. An easement by necessity north of the Lawrence property on Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road, and east over either the Middle or Lower Roads, coupled with either a prescriptive easement or privately condemned easement over Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road between the City property and the Lawrence property.

³/ A map of the roads at issue is attached to Appellants' Brief as <u>Exhibit A</u> and is the map referenced as part of the District Court's Memorandum Opinion. R. Vol. II, p. 299.

R. Ex. Post-Trial Brief filed September 26, 2007, p. 4.

The District Court filed its Memorandum Opinion on November 14, 2007. R. Vol. II, p. 258. The District Court denied Backmans' claims for prescriptive easement, easement by necessity, and to condemn a private roadway over Defendants' properties, and declined to combine the theories to provide access to the Backman Property. R. Vol. II, p. 297-98.

The District Court entered its Judgment on January 2, 2008, denying Backmans' claims for a prescriptive easement, easement by necessity and to condemn a private roadway, and dismissed Backmans' and Schrader's claims with prejudice. R. Vol. II, p. 300-02. The District Court awarded Defendants their costs on March 10, 2008. R. Vol. II, p. 367-68. Backmans appeal the District Court's decision denying the Backmans legal access to their landlocked property.

C. Statement Of Facts.

Backmans own one hundred (100) acres of landlocked property in Bonner County, Idaho. R. Ex. Post-Trial Brief filed September 26, 2007, p. 1. McKenna, Bessler, Lawrence, Zirwes, Johnson, Lloyd, Grant, Millward, Spagon and Schrader all own property in Section 7 through which Backmans seek a right of access. Plaintiffs' Exhibit $46.4^{4/2}$

Prior to 1904, all of the properties at issue in this dispute in Sections 7 and 8 were owned by the United States Government. The property adjoining the Backman Property to the west in Section 7 was patented by the United States Government in individuals from 1904 through 1907. (Haroldson in December 1904 [Plaintiffs' Exhibit 30]; Gould in May 1905 [Plaintiffs'

⁴ All references to "Plaintiffs' Exhibit..." refer to those Exhibits offered by Plaintiffs and admitted into evidence at the District Court trial of this matter, and which Exhibits are also exhibits to the Clerk's Record on Appeal.

Exhibit 31]; and Fobert in May 1907 [Plaintiffs' Exhibit 20].) Since the time the Backman Property was patented by the United States Government, it has been landlocked. *Id.*

On September 11, 1907, the United States Government patented the Backman and Schrader Properties to McKenna. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 2. On August 20, 1908, McKenna conveyed the Backman Property to the Humbird Lumber Company ("Humbird"). Plaintiffs' Exhibit 3. Until 1943, Humbird owned the Backman and Schrader Properties, as well as portions of Section 7. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 22. In 1943, Humbird conveyed its property in Section 7 to Modig. *Id.* The Modig parcel consists of the properties currently owned by Lawrence, Johnson, Lloyd, Grant and Millward. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 46. Upon Humbird's conveyance of the properties in Section 7 to Modig, the Backman Property remained landlocked. The only access to a public road at the time of that severance was through Section 7. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 42.

The chain of title to the Backman Property in Section 8 is more particularly set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

The Backman Property is located near Syringa Creek, which drains in a southerly direction from Section 7 into Section 8, down a mountainside. R. Vol. II, p. 260. Syringa Creek crosses a small portion of the southwestern corner of the Backman Property as it descends into the Pend Oreille River. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 49.

The Backman Property is steep. An examination of the 1968 United States Geological Survey topographical map presented at trial reveals elevation variations of approximately 1,000 feet within the Backman Property. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 49. Compared to the property to the west of Syringa Creek, the Backman Property to the east is steeper and more rugged. R. Vol. II, p. 266. Historically, the Backman Property, as well as the property located in Section 7 to the east of the Backman Property were used for logging. R. Vol. II, p. 260. Logging operations created roads that crossed Syringa Creek from the west in Section 7 to the higher ground east of Syringa Creek in Section 8. R. Vol. II, p. 266. The record reflects that roads through Section 7 provided access to the Backman Property in Section 8 since at least 1933. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 42; Tr. p. 342, L. 10-13.

Turtle Rock Road has been in existence since the 1930s; its exact location over Section 7 has changed only slightly over the years. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 42. Originally, Turtle Rock Road entered Section 7 from Baldy Mountain Road further to the southwest, but was later relocated to its current location in the 1950s. *Id.* Turtle Rock Road runs from the public Baldy Mountain Road east across a portion of property owned by the City, and continues east through the McKenna, Bessler, Zirwes and Lawrence properties. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 46. Turtle Rock Road then turns north across the Johnson, Lloyd, Millward, Grant, Spagon and Rogers properties. *Id.* The portion of Turtle Rock Road travelling north from the Millward property to the intersection with Inspiration Way and the Upper Road (discussed below) is what the District Court referenced as the old Syringa Creek Road. R. Vol. II, p. 266.

Heading east into Section 8 from three points along Turtle Rock Road are three branch roads that historically provided access to Section 8. Plaintiffs' Exhibits 42, 46. These roads are designated as the Lower, Middle and Upper Roads. The Lower Road runs northwest from Turtle Rock Road over the Lloyd, Johnson and Grant properties into the Backman Property in Section 8. *Id.* The Middle Road runs east from Turtle Rock Road across the Millward and Grant properties into the Backman Property in Section 8. *Id.* The Upper Road runs from the intersection of Inspiration Way and the old Syringa Creek Road east over the Rogers and Schrader properties into the Backman Property in Section 8. *Id.*

Redtail Hawk Road runs off of Turtle Rock Road to the north at an intersection near the borders of the Bessler and Zirwes properties. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 46. Redtail Hawk Road was constructed some time between 1981 and 1992. Tr. p. 338, L. 17-19. Redtail Hawk Road appears in the real property records in 1994 with the recording of a Record of Survey. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 27. Redtail Hawk Road intersects with Inspiration Way on the Gillespie property, and then heads northeast through the Harris, Marley and Spagon properties. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 46. Inspiration Way connects to the Upper Road at the intersection with the old Syringa Creek Road on the Rogers property. Redtail Hawk Road and Inspiration Way are private roads under the ownership and control of POVE. Plaintiffs' Exhibits 36, 39.

Between 1958 and 1975, and 1992 and 1998, Turtle Rock Road and the Upper, Middle and Lower Roads were used to access the Backman Property for logging. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 42. From 1994 to 2004, Turtle Rock Road and the Upper, Middle and Lower Roads were used to access the Backman Property for monitoring erosion control and timber growth, hunting, camping and other recreational pursuits. Tr. p. 225-27, 261-67.

Powers purchased the Backman Property in 1994 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 11), and extensively logged the Backman Property from 1994 to 1996, using Turtle Rock Road/Syringa Creek Road and the three extensions for access. R. Vol. II, p. 271. Powers continued to maintain and use the subject roads in Section 7 after 1996. R. Vol. II, p. 271-73. Powers testified that he used the subject roads to remove certain wooden bridges used in his logging operations. Tr. p. 221, L. 18 - p. 222, L. 10. Powers installed a culvert on the Middle Road. Tr. p. 222, L. 17 - p. 223,

L. 25. Powers performed "driving maintenance" and periodically graded the roads. Tr. p. 224,L. 1-5. He also built a skid trail off of the Middle Road. Tr. p. 224, L. 14-16.

After 1996, Powers used the Backman Property for recreational purposes, such as hunting and camping, continuing to use the subject roads in Section 7 for access. R. Vol. II, p. 273; Tr. p. 225, L. 21 - p. 227, L. 14. Powers continued to use the subject roads until he sold the Backman Property to Backmans in 2005. R. Vol. II, p. 261-62.

By the 1990s, logging activities declined and landowners in Sections 7 and 8 were selling their property to individuals and developers for the purpose of building residences. R. Vol. II, p. 267. The property to the west of Syringa Creek in the east half of Section 7 is divided into ten (10) and twenty (20) acre parcels with a single residence on most parcels. Plaintiffs' Exhibit 46. The Backman Property and other land in Section 8 remains undeveloped.

Backmans purchased the Backman Property in 2005 desiring to duplicate the type of residences existing in Section 7. R. Vol. II, p. 259. Backmans subdivided the 100-acre Backman Property into five (5) separate parcels of twenty (20) acres each. *Id.*; Plaintiffs' Exhibit 16.

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