Uldaho Law **Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-20-2008

Backman v. Lawrence Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35151

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Unity of Title cannot be Traced to United States.

The Brief of Appellants Backman leads in with an invitation to overrule Roberts v. Swim, 117 Idaho 9, 784 P.2d 339 (App. 1989). The prominence given to this argument (pp. 10 - 17) reflects the weakness and lack of legal and factual support for the remaining arguments.

Refusal to recognize common ownership in the original grantor, the sovereign United States or the state, is solidly supported in the cases around the country and in the texts:

The fact that all of the land was originally part of the public domain and hence owned by a common grantor cannot confer the right from which a way of necessity arises. Similarly, the doctrine of implied reservation of a right-of-way by necessity is not applicable where the unity of title on which it rests can be found only in the state.

25 AM. JUR.2d., Easements and Licenses, §33, p. 531.

To the same effect see Vol. 25A, CORPUS JURIS SECONDUM, Easements, §112, Unity of Title, pp. 316 –317.

The annotation in "Unity of Title for Easement by Implication or Way of Necessity," 94 A.L.R. 3d 503, 517 –518 (1979) cited in *Roberts v. Swim*, supra, summarized the case law:

. . . the original ownership of lands by the public or state does not provide the necessary unity of ownership to support a subsequently arising way of necessity.

The A.L.R. supplement to this date includes *Roberts v. Swim*, but no recent cases to the contrary.

In Idaho, all private property came originally from the United States.

Going back to the original federal grants to find easements by necessity without any contemporary evidence would mean that every present day owner was entitled to an easement across his or her neighbors' property to the nearest present public road. There would be no need for a court ever to consider prescriptive use easements.

The cases cited in the annotation are in line with the lead note. One in particular, *Guess v. Azar*, 57 So.2d 443 (Fla. 1952), nailed the fundamental problem with going back to the original sovereign grantors quoting JONES ON EASEMENTS, page 247:

"It would be ruinous to establish the precedent contended for, since by it every grantee from the earliest history of the State, and those who succeed to his title, would have an implied right of way over all surrounding and adjacent lands held under junior grants, even to the utmost limits of the State."

57 So.2d at 444 – 445.

There are other cases not mentioned in A.L.R. In *State v. Black Bros.*, 297 S.W. 213 (Tex. 1927), the Texas Supreme Court cited two of the cases in the annotation and then quoted from *United States v. Rindge* (D.C.), 208 F. 619:

"It is, in my judgment, very doubtful whether the doctrine of implied ways of necessity has any application to grants from the general government, under the public land laws. Pearne v. Coal Coke [Min. & Mfg.] Co., 90 Tenn. 619, 18 S.W. 402; Bully Hill C.M. & S. Co. v. Bruson, 4 Cal. App. 180, 87 P. 237. It it exists at all, it can be invoked against the government and its grantees as well as in their favor. Hence every grantee of a portion of the public domain from the time the land laws were extended over the same and those succeeding to his title would have an implied right of way over the surrounding and adjacent public lands, and a junior grant thereof if necessary to reach his own land, and a junior grantee and his successors in interest would have such a way over a prior grant under similar circumstances simply because they derive title from a common source."

297 S.W. at 218.

Easement cases are site specific. It appears from a cursory reading of *Kellogg v. Garcia*, 102 Cal. App. 4th 796 (2002), cited by appellants, that the dominant property in question had been a patented mining claim and the title record made it evident that the original conveyance by the federal government of the mine left no access way for the mining products to be brought out.

The conclusion of the Court of Appeals guessing an intent 175 years ago and its attempted distinction of the founding anti-sovereign law in California relied on by the trial court, *Billy Hill Cooper Mining & Smelting Co. v. Broom*, 4 Cal. App. 180, 87 P. 233 (1906), is unconvincing. Suffice to say that there is no record in this case of any use being made of any roads in 1943 - 1945 comparable to the mining access found necessary in *Kellogg v. Garcia*.

The other cases cited in Appellants' Brief do not lend weight or are distinguishable. *Kinscherff v. United States*, 586 F.2d 159 (9th Cir. 1978) is a reversal of dismissal presumably on summary judgment on a claim based on necessity. The Court of Appeals found factual disputes and cautiously expressed ". . .no opinion as to whether such an easement here exists, nor its extent." 586 P.2d at 161.

One of the cases cited in the *Kinscherff* opinion illustrates the limitations on easement by necessity even where the claim is recognized against the sovereign. In *Superior Oil Company v. United States*, 353 F.2d 34 (9th Cir. 1965), the issue was whether the oil company could use a road across Indian country. The interpretation was of a patent from the federal government to the Women's American Baptist Home Mission Society in 1910 with no subsequent transfer.

The oil company wanted to move heavy equipment across the mission land to a drill site. The Court recognized that an easement of necessity had been granted but the use was not available for heavy construction equipment:

Certainly it cannot be said either that public policy demands or that the Indians' trustee impliedly intended a grant of a way of access across Indian lands greater in scope than was required for mission purposes and whose greater scope was necessary only in order to permit the granted lands to be used in a fashion adverse to the interests of the Indians.

353 F.2d at 36.

State of Utah v. Andrus; 486 F.Supp. 995 (D.C. Utah, 1979) is the exception that proves the rule. Again the interpretation was of original government deed to property still held by the original grantee. The grant was

state trust land from the United States to the State of Utah made at statehood in 1894 with no subsequent change in ownership. The State leased the granted school land to a mining company.

The mining company was denied access by the federal government across adjoining federal laws. The Court recognized that the doctrine of easement by necessity ". . . might not ordinarily apply in the context of a federal land grant. . . ." 486 F.Supp. at 1005 (page 10). However an exception was found for state school land grants:

Unless a right of access is inferred, the very purpose of the school trust lands would fail. Without access the state could not develop the trust lands in any fashion and they would become economically worthless. This Congress did not intend.

486 F.Supp. at 1005 (p. 10).

All of the lands in Section 7 and Section 8 in this case came from railroad grants, not school land grants.

1. <u>U.S. Supreme Court Denies Easement by Necessity</u>

In *Utah v. Andrus*, the Chief Judge Anderson noted the U.S. Supreme Court case of *Leo Sheep Co. v. United States*, 440 U.S. 668, 99 S.Ct. 103, 59 L.Ed.2d 677 (1979) and found it to be "not apposite." 486 F.Supp. 1005 (p. 10). That may or may not be an appropriate distinction.

However, Leo Sheep Co. is squarely supportive of Judge Hosack's determination that original federal ownership will not support common ownership to provide easement by necessity.

Easement by necessity was rejected even though it was sought by the original grantor, federal government. Just as in this case, private ownership

began with a grant to the railroad, the Union Pacific. Chief Justice Rehnquist opened his opinion with a learned discussion of the background to and the culminating actions that lead to the Civil War railroad grant acts, in that instance the Union Pacific Act of 1862. The following analysis which Chief Justice Rehnquist subsequently describes as affecting "property rights in 150 million acres of land in the Western United States. . ." begins:

This case is the modern legacy of these early grants. Petitioners, the Leo Sheep Co., and the Palm Livestock Co., are the Union Pacific Railroad's successors in fee to specific odd-numbered sections of land in Carbon County, Wyoming.

59 L.3d 2d at 685.

In the present case, respondents Spagon et al and Grant, are successors in interest to Louisiana Pacific corporation which acquired the property from the Northern Pacific Railroad.

In Leo Sheep Co., the United States controlled the Seminoe Reservoir which was used by the public for fishing and hunting. The railroad grants of alternate sections left checkerboard squares so that access to the reservoir crossed private properties used for livestock crossing. The federal government cleared a dirt road across the private land and posted signs inviting the public to use the road as a route to the reservoir. 59 L.Ed.2d at 685.

As here, there was no express easement. An 1878 opinion of Justice Field was cited as noting:

...that the intent of Congress in making the Union Pacific grants was clear: "It was to aid in the construction of the road by a gift of lands along its route, without reservation of rights, except such as were specifically mentioned..."

59 L.Ed.2d at 686.

Chief Justice Rehnquist then reviewed the doctrine of easement by necessity as claimed by the government. He found two problems in the government's assertion. The second is the distinction noted in the *Utah* case that the sovereign state has the power of condemnation not applicable here.

The first problem, an equal barrier to the government claim and directly in point, is this:

First of all, whatever right of passage a private landowner might have, it is not at all clear that it would include the right to construct a road for public access to a recreational area.

59 L.Ed 2d at 686.

The opinion goes on to refuse to find an implied intent for a present day road use that could not possibly have been contemplated at the time of the original grant 100 years ago. 59 L.Ed 2d at 687. It was too far a reach for the fictional implied intent to find that Congress in 1862 meant to include the right to construct a road for public access to a recreational area a century later:

In footnote 15, the opinion discounts subsequent changes in the dominant estate quoting from a New Jersey opinion:

"Changes in the dominant parcel's use exert some, but not a great influence, in determining the scope of such easements." 3 Powell, supra n. 14, ¶416, pp. 34 – 203 to 34 –204 (footnotes omitted). See, e.g., Higbee Fishing Club v. Atlantic City Electric Co. 78 NJ Eq 434, 79 A 326 (1911) (footpath, not roadway, proper scope of easement where use of dominant estate as clubhouse could not have been contemplated by parties to original grant).

59 L.Ed 2d at 686.

The exact same reasoning used by Chief Justice Rehnquist for a unanimous U.S. Supreme Court gives controlling guidance here to refuse to even consider easement by necessity on federal land granted to the railroad.

Resource extraction, mining, lumber and farming, not residential development for high-end houses on steep ground, was the contemplated use for the 150 million acres of land in the Western United States granted to the railroads in the 1860's.

Judge Hosack quoted the testimony of Larry Moody speaking of the Backman property as late as the 1990's:

"Nobody ever dreamed there would be homes up there ever."
R., Vol. II, p. 278.

2. Wisconsin: Grantor Gave Away Access to his Property

In Schwab v. Timmons, 324 Wis. 2d 27, 589 N.W.2d 1 (Wis. 1999) the evidence established that the petitioners once had access to a public road on land which they had earlier sold off. Therefor the landlocking of their property did not result. "...from a grant of property to them but by their own acts in conveying away their highway access":

An easement by necessity only exists where an owner sells a landlocked parcel to another, in which case the law will recognize a way of necessity in the grantee over the land retained by the grantor. Rock Lake Estates Unit Owners Ass'n v. Township of Lake Mills, 195 Wis.2d 348, 372, 536 N.W.2d 415 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing Ludke, 87 Wis.2d at 229-30, 274 N.W.2d 641). The petitioners in this case are the grantors, not the grantees, and as in Rock Lake Estates, the conveyances which resulted in their landlocked property were made by the petitioners when they sold off the property above the bluff. We conclude that it would be contrary to this state's policy against encumbrances for this court to award an easement to the petitioners over parcels of unrelated third parties under these circumstances.

589 N.W.2d at 7.

Although there were no adjoining public roads in 1943 and 1945, the deeds have the same pattern here. Humbird Lumber Company sold off the tract of land to Modig across which the Backmans are now seeking an easement by necessity while retaining the 100 acres now owned by the Backmans. Plaintiffs Exhibit 22. State policy in Idaho should be similar to Wisconsin in denying an award of an easement over parcels of the unrelated third parties, the eleven named respondents.

The Backmans acted prudently in obtaining title insurance and thereby imposed upon Chicago Title and its agent, Alliance Title, the duty of search as described in an earlier Wisconsin decision:

More recently in *Kordecki v. Rizzo*, 106 Wis.2d 713, 719 n. 5, 317 N.W.2d 479 (1982), this court reiterated that a purchaser of real estate has three sources of information from which to learn of rights to the land he or she is about to purchase: (1) reviewing the chain of title; (2) searching other public records that may reveal other non-recorded rights, such as judgments or liens; and (3) inspecting the land itself. These sources may be irrelevant under the petitioners' proposal if someone with a landlocked piece or property desired a right-of-way through another person's property "in the interest of development."

The petitioners are effectively asking this court to sanction hidden easements. An easement which in this case was not created by, but was, according to petitioners, clearly intended by the United States at conveyance.

589 N.W.2d at pp. 7 - 8.

The Backmans have quite properly waived any claim to use of Redtail Hawk Road under any theory. Appellants Brief, p. 22. The Backmans' claim is solely and only of access from Turtle Rock Road in Section 7 into the Beckmans' property in Section 8.

As set forth above, there can be no claim of easement by necessity based upon original ownership by the United States. The claim must be supported by all of the elements of easements by necessity existing at the time Humbird Lumber Company conveyed away its property.

3. No Implied Easements in Logging Country

Before and at the time of the conveyance on December 22, 1943 to Modig and on February 2, 1945 to Wert, no part of the Humbird Lumber Company property touched upon any public road nor upon any private road that connected to a public road.

By deed dated December 22, 1943, Humbird Lumber Company conveyed to Lewis Modig the SE ¼ NE ¼ (40 acres) and the E ½ SE ¼ (80 acres) in Section 7. Defendants Exhibit H. The 80 acres in Section 7 contiguous to the west is now in the ownership of respondents Millward, Lloyd, Johnson and Grant.

By deed dated February 2, 1945, Humbird Lumber Company conveyed to Eva A. Wert the S ½ NW ¼ and S ½ NW ¼ NW ¼ (100 acres) in Section 8 together with the rest of its property owned in Bonner County. Plaintiffs Exhibit 4. The 100 acres in Section 8 is now owned by appellants Backman.

From the time of the first patent from the United States to private ownership in 1907 until well into the 1990's all of the properties of plaintiffs and defendants were owned by lumber companies with the only use of the properties being logging. These logging companies did not need easements nor did they wish to grant easements. There was cooperation between the logging companies and also with the few non-company private owners.

24

Permission was freely granted to allow logs to be hauled by horse, by tractor, by skidder and finally by truck from the logging sites to the public road and to the sawmills. All the properties were exactly as described by the Court of Appeals in denying the plaintiffs' claim for an implied easement in *Cordwell v. Smith*, 105 Idaho 71, 665 P.2d 1081 (App. 1983):

The area where appellants' tracts are located in steep, mountainous, forested country. The evidence shows that, until appellants purchased their scattered tracts there was no asserted need for year-round access to the area. None of the old logging roads beyond Ole Ladd's dwelling were kept open in the winter. With the exception of the Roush tract – not at issue in this appeal – none of the tracts has been occupied nor improved.

105 Idaho at 82.

Since there is absolutely no evidence of any road in apparent continuous use from Section 8 into Section 7 for a lengthy period prior to 1943, this type of implied easement needs no further discussion.

B. Backmans did not Prove Easement by Necessity

The elements of easement by necessity were set forth in *Bob Daniels* & *Sons v. Weaver*, 106 Idaho 535, 681 P.2d 1010 (App. 1984) as follows:

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